ON BIOMOLECULAR HOMOCHIRALITY AS A QUASI-FOSSIL OF THE EVOLUTION OF LIFE

MARTIN QUACK

ETH Zürich, Laboratorium für Physikalische Chemie, Zürich, Switzerland

CONTENTS

I. Introduction

- II. Some Facts of Life
- III. Symmetries and Asymmetries in the Present WorldA. Fundamental Symmetries of Physics and the Question of Left and Right
 - B. Symmetry Breakings: Spontaneous, De Facto, De Lege
- IV. Current Status of Theory and Experiment for Parity Violation in Chiral Molecules
- V. The Origin and Significance of Biomolecular Homochirality
- VI. Dead or Alive, Dark Matter, Cosmology and the World Game: Concluding Remarks and Speculations
 - A. Homochirality of Matter and Cosmology
 - B. The World Game
 - C. Life and Death in the Universe and the Question of Consciousness and Free Will
 - D. SETI and Extraterrestrial Homochirality
 - E. Search for Terrestrial Intelligence (STI)

Acknowledgment

Appendix

On Nomenclature

References Discussion

Discussion

I. INTRODUCTION

Bereshit bara Elohim et ha-shamayim ve – et haáretz, ve- haáretz hayeta tohu -và bohu, ve choshech al penei tehom. The question of the origin of life has been discussed by mankind for thousands of years, at least. We review the question of homochirality as a quasi-fossil of the evolution of life. We discuss how this question is closely linked to fundamental symmetries of physics C, P, T, and their

Advances in Chemical Physics, Volume 157: Proceedings of the 240 Conference: Science's Great Challenges, First Edition. Edited by Aaron R. Dinner.

^{© 2015} John Wiley & Sons, Inc. Published 2015 by John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

violation. There are several fundamentally different hypotheses for the origin of homochirality, but we do not know which one, if any, is correct. We show, which type of observation either in the laboratory or in astrobiological investigations would provide information. We summarize the current status of our investigations on molecular parity violation resulting in a small "parity-violating" energy difference between the enantiomers of chiral molecules. The theory for this phenomenon has been substantially revised by us in 1995 leading to about one to two orders of magnitude larger values than anticipated previously and is now well established. However, experimental confirmation (or refutation) is still missing, but we have made progress on this question. We conclude by a discussion of what the consequences of parity violation might be for future studies of the evolution of homochirality, as well as some cosmological speculations.

The question of the origin and evolution of life from "non-living" matter is one of the fundamental long-standing, but completely unsolved questions of the modern natural sciences. To some extent even the question of "what is life?" [1] is not yet answered in a completely satisfactory manner, although we shall take here the pragmatic point of view that we can distinguish in a fairly straightforward manner the "living" from the "non-living" world in most cases: A bacterium, a tree, or a cat belong to the world of the "living," whereas gaseous nitrogen, N₂, pure liquid water (H₂O), a block of iron or graphite belong to the non-living world and it is not our theme here to go into the finer details of this generally difficult distinction, although this would be worthy of an investigation in itself.

Based on solid evidence from isotope dating, we know that our planet Earth arose about 4.56 Gigayears ago $(4.56 \times 10^9 \text{ years})$ from the protoplanetary gas cloud generating our sun and the planets, and there seems to be good evidence that life appeared on Earth about 3.5 Gigayears ago, although this date is sometimes questioned, as the fossils remaining from this time have an uncertain interpretation. There remain no scientifically based doubts, however, that life on Earth is at least about 1 Gigayear old and has evolved substantially to a variety of forms recognizable in numerous well-established fossils.

An excellent survey of the broader aspects of the origin and evolution of life has been given in the paper by Sidney Leach at this meeting [2,3] as well as in a recent paper by Joshua Jortner [4], which we highly recommend for further reference. Also the papers and books by Al-Shamery [5], Eigen [6–10], Eschenmoser [11], Lehn [12,13], Luisi [14], and Miller and Orgel [15–17] can be consulted as a small selection from a truly vast literature on the topic.

Rather than addressing the very general question of the origins of life, we shall concentrate here on one particular aspect: the "biomolecular homochirality" which we find in the living species, that is, the essentially exclusive preference of L-amino acids and D-sugars in the biopolymers of life. Of the two possible enantiomers (Figure 1), only one type is preferred in all living species although the (nearly) symmetrically equivalent mirror image form also finds some specialized biochemical use in some cases and appears as equally abundant in non-living matter. After the recognition in the early 19th century that organic matter is



Figure 1. Chiral methane derivatives with four hydrogen isotopes (e.g., H, D, T, Mu). If one uses as substituents H, R, NH_2 , COOH, one obtains the usual amino acids of proteins (with various R) of the D and L series (after References 18, 19).

not necessarily related to life phenomena, notably Louis Pasteur has suggested biomolecular homochirality as a possible simple "chemical signature of life" since 1848 and the question has been addressed more recently by Prelog [20] and Eigen [10] (see the detailed citations in a recent review [21, 22]).

Following a suggestion of Sidney Leach in correspondence prior to this meeting¹ we shall address the question why we can consider biomolecular homochirality as an important quasi-fossil of the chemical evolution in the origin of life. This particular quasi-fossil can be related to other quasi-fossils from the origins of our present universe (Section III) connected with to some strange asymmetries of physics. We refer to some of our earlier reviews on various aspects of the topic [18, 19, 21–29].

II. SOME FACTS OF LIFE

Before entering into more details on biomolecular homochirality, we shall summarize a few "facts of life" leading to very different possible views on the origin of life.

So far, we know only of one form of life in the Universe, the one on our Earth, which is all based on the same biochemical apparatus using the same type of biopolymers for sustaining, inheriting, and evolving life. From this observation, two very different conclusions have been drawn.

1. Life is extremely unlikely to evolve in the Universe, we are a singular event. This seems to be currently a minority opinion but with some prominent proponents [20, 30].

¹ S. Leach (2012), Letter to M. Quack asking: "... (I would like you in your talk to persuade me)" ... "as to why the biochemical chirality problem is a real issue in the origin of life and not simply a very interesting problem in chemical physics".

MARTIN QUACK

2. The alternative, appearing from many conversations (including also some votes by large audiences in public lectures) as a current majority opinion, states that life is very likely to emerge and evolve, given the appropriate physical–chemical conditions similar to the early Earth. With an increasing number of extrasolar planets being detected [31], there should be numerous planets in the Universe, where life exists (and it might exist on Mars, Titan, etc. in our solar system as well, although we have no good evidence for this).

A fair assessment of the two alternatives can only come to the conclusion that we do not know at present which one is correct. The question is open.

If the second alternative of "frequent life" turns out to be right, we can state again two alternative versions:

- 2.1. Life on the many appropriate planets and moons is always based on the same type of biochemistry, based on carbon-containing biopolymers, perhaps even always amino acids and nucleic acids.
- 2.2. Very different types of biochemistry occur in different life forms, using other elements (Silicon, etc.) and perhaps even "nonchemical" forms of life.

Again, a fair assessment must conclude that we do not know, what applies here, although the current majority seems to favor 2.1 (not too strongly, though).

If 2.2 were to apply, only speculation is possible. However, for 2.1, we can again formulate several opinions concerning homochirality.

- 2.1.1. All life forms are similar to ours, with only L-amino acids and D-sugars in the biopolymers of life.
- 2.1.2. The life forms choose one form of homochirality, but with about equal probability for separate evolutions, say only L-amino acids and D-sugars in one planetary system and D-amino acids and L-sugars in another, with a roughly random distribution among different planetary systems.
- 2.1.3. Some planets might be inhabited by life forms where the two enantiomeric forms of biopolymers coexist.

There seems to be a majority among currently active chemists and biochemists interested in the problem favoring the option 2.1.2., but again a fair assessment of our current knowledge must come to the conclusion that we do not know which of the three hypotheses is correct. Some might argue that 2.1.3. can be excluded, but the arguments for this are not truly compelling.

As a final remark on the option 2.1.2, we mention an early proposal we made more than two decades ago [32,33]. As we know only our current form of homochiral life, one approach toward a total synthesis of a new form of life would consist in analyzing a very simple species (say, a simple bacterium) quite completely in terms of DNA, proteins, indeed all of the biochemical properties and then resynthesize this whole apparatus as a complete mirror image with D-amino acids in the proteins and L-sugars in the DNA and so forth, as well as providing it with the appropriate mirror image food. Then again we have two hypotheses on the outcome of such an experiment.

- 2.1.2.1. This new mirror image species will essentially function like the original form, just as a complete chemical mirror image.
- 2.1.2.2. The new species will function very differently, perhaps not at all.

There seems to be a clear current majority favoring hypothesis 2.1.2.1, but a fair assessment must come to the conclusion that we simply do not know, which of these two hypothesis 2.1.2.1 or 2.1.2.2. is correct. It is at present also not clear, how far removed we are from a realization of such a project and no real project along these lines seems to be underway currently, more than two decades after the original proposal was made.

From our discussion, it seems obvious that there are many things in connection with the origin of life, of which we know that we do not know the proper answer. There are of course even more open questions (see the article by Jortner [4]). We shall now concentrate on the question of the role of biomolecular homochirality, which interestingly was nominated as number (1) open question by Jortner [4]. We shall discuss it here in relation to fundamental asymmetries of physics and chemistry. We shall see that homochirality may contain crucial clues to the origin of life. Figure 2 summarizes a survey of views as discussed in the present subsection. As a historical side remark I might mention that about 5 years ago I have lectured here in Chicago on this topic at the ACS Symposium on "Implications of Chirality in Physical Chemistry," March 2007, but there is no written record from this and we have made some progress since then.

III. SYMMETRIES AND ASYMMETRIES IN THE PRESENT WORLD

We summarize here briefly some observations on symmetries and their violations as observed in our present day world as a background for the discussion of biomolecular homochirality. More extensive discussions and explanations can be found in References 18, 19, 21, 22, 23–29, from which the discussion of this subsection is drawn.

A. Fundamental Symmetries of Physics and the Question of Left and Right

The following symmetry operations leave the molecular Hamiltonian operator generally invariant [18, 19, 21, 22, 23–29, 32–42]. (for limitations see below)

- 1. any translation in space
- 2. any translation in time



Figure 2. Summary of hypotheses on the origin of life and homochirality.

- 3. any rotation in space
- 4. reflection of the particle coordinates at the origin (parity operation P or E^*)
- 5. Time reversal or reversing momenta and spins of the particles (T for Tempus or time)
- 6. Every permutation of the indices of identical particles (the atomic nuclei, the nucleons, the electrons)
- 7. The replacement of all particles by their antiparticles of opposite charge (Charge conjugation C)

These symmetry operations form the symmetry group of the Hamiltonian operator. In correspondence with Emmy Noether's Theorem, each symmetry is associated with a conserved quantity. Even more interesting is the interpretation that a nonobservable quantity is associated with each exact symmetry [23, 29, 41]. The first three symmetries correspond to continuous operations with symmetry groups of infinite order, the four last discrete operations lead to groups of finite order. We shall concern ourselves here in detail only with these discrete symmetries. The symmetries P, C, T, and the combination CP are not exact: they have been found to be violated in some experiments, whereas their combination CPT is accepted as exact. It serves as a foundation of the entire modern theory of matter as summarized in the so-called standard model of particle physics (SMPP) and has to date not been disproven. The same holds true for the permutation symmetry (6) with N! symmetry operations for N identical particles, which leads to the generalized Pauli-principle [23, 29, 37, 38]. We have, however, already speculated earlier that possibly all discrete symmetries are violated [18, 19, 29, 34, 36, 39, 42]. It is important to define the terms symmetry violation and symmetry breaking more carefully, which we can do with the use of the geometrically easily understandable example of molecular chirality, which is connected with the parity operation or the right-left-symmetry.

Figure 3 illustrates the parity operation P. This is a reflection of the coordinates at the origin of a Cartesian coordinate system. It transforms a right-handed



Figure 3. Reflection \hat{E}^* or parity operation *P* (after Reference 25).

coordinate system into a left-handed coordinate system. If one then rotates the left-handed coordinate system in Figure 3 by an angle of 180° around the x axis, then the two coordinate systems shown here behave as the image and its mirror image in a normal plane mirror. Because the rotation by 180° is one of the infinitely many symmetry operations of rotation in space (see point 3 of the list above), the reflection in a mirror is in this sense also a symmetry of the molecular Hamilton operator. This type of reflection is mostly used in discussions of enantiomers of chiral molecules, which behave as image and mirror image of a handed system (see Figure 1, the word chiral comes from the Greek $\chi \epsilon \iota \rho$ = hand; the Greek word $\varepsilon \nu \alpha \nu \tau \iota o \zeta$ means "standing opposite" and $\mu \varepsilon \rho o \zeta$ is "a part of the whole," meaning that the definition of "enantiomer" is "consisting of parts which are so arranged that they stand opposite to each other as image and mirror image." The important common aspects of the two symmetries, of reflection from a plane mirror and reflection at the center of coordinates, is the transformation of a "left handed" into an equivalent "right-handed" system (molecule). The additional rotation, which differentiates the two symmetry operations, is not of importance for the freely moving isolated molecule in this context.

Interestingly, already Einstein had noted the "nonobservable" nature of the handedness of matter and space under the assumption of an exact inversion symmetry of space, which was at the time taken as self-evident and not questioned. In his words (from Reference 43 as cited and translated in Reference 29):

There are thus two types of Cartesian coordinate systems, which are called "righthanded" and "left-handed" systems. The difference between the two is familiar to every physicist and engineer. It is interesting that an absolute geometric definition of the right or left handedness is impossible, only the relationship of opposition between the two can be defined.

This lack of an absolute geometric definition of handedness arising from a strict conservation law and rigorous symmetry is also sometimes expressed as the Ozma problem [44]: With the exact symmetry present, it would be impossible to communicate to a civilization in a distant galaxy that our proteins are made of L-amino acids by a coded message without sending a sample (see Reference 29). If the symmetry is violated *de lege* (see section III. B below), the Ozma problem disappears, one enantiomer would become more stable than the other and one could simply communicate that we are made of the more stable enantiomer (if so). The consequence of the inversion symmetry for the energetics of chiral molecules was also noted by van't Hoff [45, 46]. For the R and S enantiomers of chiral molecules, one would have exactly equal energies at a temperature T = 0 K and thus a reaction enthalpy $\Delta_R H_0^{\sigma}$ and Gibbs energy $\Delta_R G_0^{\sigma}$ exactly zero by symmetry (and also at all other T)

$$R = S; \quad \Delta_R H_0^{\circ} = \Delta_R G_0^{\circ} = 0$$
 (exactly by symmetry). (1)

Van't Hoff writes in conclusion of the first chapter of his paper (originally in French, translated here by us):

"Such an equilibrium depends on the work ($\Delta_R G_0^{\Theta}$, van't Hoff writes *E* in old notation), which such a transformation can produce. This work must be zero in this case in view of the exact mechanical symmetry of the two isomers, following the concepts developed. It follows that the equilibrium constant *K*, which determines the relative proportion of the two compounds (enantiomers) is equal to unity because of the following equation:

$$\ln K = -\Delta_{\rm R} G^{\rm o} / (RT) \tag{2}$$

where T indicates the absolute temperature. It is thus clear that at equilibrium, the relative amounts of the two isomers (enantiomers) must be equal" (we have rewritten Eq. (2) in modern notation here).

If the symmetry is violated, then $\Delta_R H_0^{\bullet}$ can be different from zero, which is what current theory predicts, due to electroweak parity violation.

We have given here two citations of the basic question of "left" and "right" in the context of physics and chemistry (for more see Reference 29), and one might ask what is the first citation in the human literature. It seems that this is to be found in the book Jonah 4, 10-11: "Then the Lord said: You are concerned about the bush, for which you did not labor and which you did not grow; it came into being in a night and it perished in a night. And should I not be concerned about Nineveh, that great city, in which there are more than a hundred and twenty thousand persons who do not know their right hand from their left and also many animals?" We cite here from the "New revised Standard Version" (of 1989) and obviously some caution is in order with any translation. One might wonder what the writer of these lines wanted to say with reference to the persons who cannot distinguish their right hand from their left. I have heard numerous interpretations, the meaning of distinguishing right from wrong is one (but does not make much sense in this context). A more plausible interpretation might be, that some languages and cultures, perhaps Nineveh, did not have the concept of distinction between left and right handedness. As Hebrew has the distinction, it might be a reference to a lower cultural standard of Nineveh. In some old Egyptian paintings, one finds pictures where persons are drawn with two right hands, no distinction being made, which might be evidence in favor of such an interpretation (Figure 4). Another interpretation can be found in the "Zürich Bible" translation by the reformer Zwingli. It is translated with the meaning "who cannot yet distinguish between left and right" which might imply that the very young children of the town are meant. Luther does not add this "not yet" and neither in the original Hebrew text nor the ancient Greek "Septuaginta" one can find indication of "not yet." We have found an ultramodern translation in an American Bible that removes left and right altogether and writes "who live in utter spiritual darkness." Obviously, one can take some liberties in translation. Thus I also take some liberty and propose



Figure 4. Tomb wall depicting Queen Nefertari, the great royal wife of pharaoh Rameses II showing a person with two hands of the same handedness. (Wikimedia, public domain).

a new interpretation with a new super-ultramodern translation: "... who do not yet know about electroweak parity violation." With this note, which might not be taken too seriously, we turn now to symmetry breakings.

B. Symmetry Breakings: Spontaneous, De Facto, De Lege

When we observe the Universe today, we observe interesting actual asymmetries related to the three discrete symmetries C, P, T (see Table I): Matter dominates over antimatter, L-amino acids in proteins dominate over D-amino acids and time runs forward, not backward. The symmetries are broken, indeed, to a maximum degree, almost.

	Asymmetries in the World as We Observe It (after Reference 21)		
Observations			
	We live in a world:	Symmetry	
1.	comprising matter (mainly), not antimatter	C, CP, CPT	
2.	with biopolymers (proteins, DNA, RNA) out of L-amino acids and D-sugars (not D-amino acids and L-sugars) in usual life forms	Р	
3.	in which the time runs forward, not backward	Т	

 TABLE I

 Asymmetries in the World as We Observe It (after Reference 21)

The origin of these symmetry breakings is subtle and not understood in all aspects. They can be considered as quasi-fossils of the evolution of the universe.

We shall give here a brief summary with particular emphasis on biomolecular homochirality referring to the articles [21, 22, 23–25, 27–29] for much more extensive reviews and further references. For a systematic discussion, it is first necessary to identify three different types of symmetry breakings, spontaneous, *de facto* and *de lege*, which are frequently not so well distinguished (often all three or at least two of them (spontaneous and *de facto*) are mixed up and lumped together in terminology. As discussed in more detail in References 24 and 29 the three concepts are really to be distinguished. We shall illustrate this with the example of a chiral molecule with (almost) symmetrically equivalent enantiomers.

Figure 5 illustrates this with a potential function with two minima, each corresponding to one enantiomer, separated by a large potential maximum. With perfect space inversion (parity) symmetry the potential (in fact the Hamiltonian altogether) is strictly symmetrical and the classical mechanical state reflecting this symmetry would be at the intermediate maximum of the potential corresponding to the barrier, $V(q_c)$. This is a point of unstable equilibrium (see left hand part of Figure 5).

At lower energy, the state of the system will drop into one of the two minima, stable equilibria. In classical mechanics, only one state can be realized at a given time, either left at q_L or right at q_R . Neither state shows the symmetry of the potential or Hamiltonian. This corresponds to the phenomenon of spontaneous symmetry breaking, which is essentially a classical concept. It can be extended to the quantum mechanics of idealized systems with an infinite number of degrees of freedom, which we will not pursue here.

In molecular quantum mechanics, a new phenomenon arises, as discussed by F. Hund in 1927 [47, 48]: the superposition principle guarantees the existence of superpositions of states λ (localized left) and ρ (localized right). Indeed the energy eigenstates correspond to symmetrical and antisymmetrical superpositions of well-defined parity (positive, +, negative, –):

$$\chi_{+} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (\lambda + \rho) \tag{3}$$

$$-\chi_{-} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(\lambda - \rho). \tag{4}$$



Symmetry breaking and Symmetry Violation

spontanous: classical \rightarrow quantum

Figure 5. Illustration of symmetric and asymmetric double-well potentials for a chiral molecule (after Reference 28).

There is an energy difference $\Delta E_{\pm} = E_{-} - E_{+}$ between these two states and it is possible to generate the localized states as superpositions of the energy eigenstates:

$$\rho = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(\chi_{+} + \chi_{-})$$
(5)

$$\lambda = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(\chi_{+} - \chi_{-}).$$
 (6)

These states evolve with a period

$$\tau = \frac{h}{\Delta E_{\pm}} \tag{7}$$

and show a time for a transition from a localized state left to a localized state right, which is just the half period

$$\tau_{\lambda \to \rho} = \frac{h}{2\Delta E_{\pm}}.$$
(8)

This transfer happens at energies below the barrier separating the two minima and is thus classically forbidden. It provides an early reference to the tunnel effect in quantum mechanics [47,48], subsequent work being notably due to G. Gamow in treating α -decay.

As Hund pointed out, with small values of ΔE_{\pm} , the state can remain for very long time localized on one side (say left), like the classical state, and this quantum phenomenon is called *de facto* symmetry breaking. Different from the classical spontaneous symmetry breaking, however, the delocalized states χ_+ and χ_- can be prepared at any time, as guaranteed by the superposition principle of molecular quantum mechanics, even if λ and ρ are extremely long lived due to the small splitting ΔE_{\pm} . It should also be noted that the expectation values for the energies of λ and ρ are identical by symmetry, even if the energy is not sharply defined:

$$\langle E_{\lambda} \rangle = \langle E_{\rho} \rangle = (E_{+} + E_{-})/2 \tag{9}$$

Turning now to the phenomenon of *de lege* symmetry breaking, one arrives at the situation shown in the right hand part of Figure 5. The potential is no more symmetric, due to effects from electroweak parity violation [29], and the energy eigenstates are localized left with $E_{\lambda}^{(pv)}$ and right with $E_{\rho}^{(pv)}$ with a "parityviolating" energy difference

$$\Delta_{\rm pv}E = E_{\rho}^{\rm (pv)} - E_{\lambda}^{\rm (pv)}.$$
 (10)

Now the eigenstates of parity evolve with a period

$$\tau_{\rm pv} = \frac{h}{\Delta_{\rm pv} E}.$$
(11)

With typical theoretical values of $\Delta_{pv}E$, τ_{pv} is calculated to be on the order of seconds.

One might think now that given the generally proven effect of parity violation, the *de lege* symmetry breaking is the proper explanation for the origin of molecular

261

MARTIN QUACK

Communities of Benef Concerning Structural Hypotheses for Cinnar Morecules (area Merecence 27)				
de facto	Spontanous	de lege		
Hypothesis of Hund 1927	 "Classical" hypothesis" van't Hoff und le Bel 1874 Cahn, Ingold, Prelog 1956/66) "External perturbation" or "environmental" hypothesis Simonius 1978, Harris and Stodolsky 1981, Davies 1978/79 	 Electroweak interaction with parity violation Lee and Yang 1956, Wu et al. 1957 Yamagata 1966 Rein, Hegström and Sandars 1979, 1980 Mason, Tranter, McDermott et al. 1983 ff (calculations) Oursek 1080/26 (compared) 		

- Pfeifer, Primas 1980

A. Amann 1989f

TABLE II Communities of Belief Concerning Structural Hypotheses for Chiral Molecules (after Reference 24)

chirality. This, however, cannot be guaranteed just by the mere existence of the effect, but it really depends on the results of a quantitative analysis. Indeed, de facto symmetry breaking provides essentially the correct treatment for the quantum dynamics of molecular chirality, if we have

$$\Delta E_{\pm} \gg \Delta_{\rm pv} E. \tag{12}$$

– Quack 1980/86 (proposed

experiments on $\Delta_{pv}E$, see also [26,

28, 29] for more recent theory)

On the other hand, the *de lege* symmetry breaking prevails, whenever

$$\Delta_{\rm pv} E \gg \Delta E_{\pm},\tag{13}$$

where in this last equation ΔE_{\pm} is to be understood as the tunneling splitting for the hypothetical symmetric potential.

From the numbers given above, we can conclude, that ordinary stable long lived chiral molecules with lifetimes of hours or years are dominated by the de lege parity violation [29], whereas molecules with short lived chirality such as H_2O_2 , which shows tunneling on the ps timescale [49–51] are dominated by de facto symmetry breaking. Table II summarizes the current views of various types of symmetry breakings as relevant for molecular chirality as summarized in a careful analysis of the literature in 1989 [24]. As one can see there is quite a variety of explanations. The point we want to make here is that only a quantitative analysis for a particular case can provide the answer, which explanation is the correct one for this case. Without such an analysis, one does not know the answer. We shall encounter a similar situation for the different question of the evolution of biomolecular homochirality. We anticipate here our discussion in section IV and V, that for the quantum dynamics of molecular chirality, we can give a theoretically well-founded answer in many cases today (see Section IV). For the origin of biomolecular homochirality, the question remains open today (Section V).

IV. CURRENT STATUS OF THEORY AND EXPERIMENT FOR PARITY VIOLATION IN CHIRAL MOLECULES

Because of the possible importance of molecular parity violation for biomolecular homochirality, we give here a very brief review of the field, noting that more extensive recent reviews on the topic are available [21, 22, 28, 29, 33]. With the discovery of parity violation in nuclear and particle physics [52–55] and the subsequent development of electroweak theory in the framework of the SMPP [56–60], there were already early qualitative discussion of the role of molecular parity violation for chemistry including biomolecular homochirality [61,62]. Early suggestions and actual experimental attempts were made [63–67]. We know today that in the early experimental attempts about 10 orders of magnitude were missing in resolution or sensitivity.

Also, quantitative theory was developed for parity violation in atoms [68, 69] and molecules [70–76]. It turned out in a careful reinvestigation of the theoretical approach [77–85] that the early theoretical results were wrong, too small by about two orders of magnitude for the benchmark molecule H_2O_2 and other molecules, typically. These new developments after 1995 [77–85] were confirmed in numerous further independent approaches [86–91].

Figure 6 provides a graphical survey of the "big jump" in theory made around 1995. A brief summary of the current status of "electroweak quantum chemistry" (a term coined in Reference 77 and 78) can be that the new, much larger order



Figure 6. Graphical survey of the development of the theory of molecular parity violation with the "big jump" in 1995 (after Reference 33).

of magnitude is theoretically well established. Still, the values are very small, say about 10^{-11} Jmol⁻¹ or 100 aeV for the prototypical molecules CHFClBr (or CDFClBr) [83,84] and ClSSCl [92], where tunneling splittings in the ground state are negligibly small, much smaller than the parity-violating energy differences [92].

For a detailed review, we refer in particular to the articles and reviews [27–29, 33, 78, 80, 84, 85, 93], as a detailed description of the theory would take too much space here. Nevertheless a brief discussion of the basic concepts may be in order.

The usual quantum chemical description of molecular quantum dynamics is based on the parity conserving electromagnetic force (see Reference 29 for a general survey in the framework of the SMPP). For visualization as well as for the practical approach one can use as a starting point the Born–Oppenheimer (or adiabatic) potential hypersurface $V(q_1, q_2, ..., q_S)$ as a function of the set of some generalized internal coordinates $\{q_1, q_2, q_3, ..., q_S\}$, where S = 3N - 6 is the relevant number of degrees of freedom of a chiral molecule with $N \ge 4$ being the number of nuclei (atoms) of the molecule. This potential is rigorously symmetric upon inversion of the coordinates at the center of mass (parity operation \hat{P} or \hat{E}^*

$$\hat{E}^* V_R(q_1, q_2, q_3, \dots, q_S) = V_S(\bar{q}_1, \bar{q}_2, \bar{q}_3, \dots, \bar{q}_S)$$
(14)

with

$$V_{\rm R}(q_1, q_2, q_3, \dots, q_S) - V_S(\bar{q}_1, \bar{q}_2, \bar{q}_3, \dots, \bar{q}_S) = 0, \tag{15}$$

that is, exactly zero by symmetry. We have indicated by the index R and S that the inversion E^* transforms an enantiomeric configuration "R" into the corresponding enantiomeric "S" configuration, and the \bar{q}_i indicates the coordinates with the inverted structure.

Of course, the symmetry of the Hamiltonian goes far beyond the Born– Oppenheimer, adiabatic or any other approximation, the exact molecular Hamiltonian \hat{H}_{em} in electromagnetic theory shows this symmetry. One notes that relevant molecular quantizations and potential energy differences in these potentials are on the order of 100 kJ mol⁻¹ corresponding to about 1 eV (covering of course a range of a few orders of magnitude depending on the dynamical process considered).

On the other hand, in electroweak quantum chemistry, one calculates an additional effective "parity-violating" potential $V_{pv}(q_1, q_2, q_3, \dots, q_S)$, which is antisymmetric under the inversion operation.

$$\hat{E}^* V_{\text{pvR}}(q_1, q_2, q_3, \dots, q_S) = V_{\text{pvS}}(\bar{q}_1, \bar{q}_2, \bar{q}_3, \dots, \bar{q}_S) = -V_{\text{pvR}}(q_1, q_2, q_3, \dots, q_S)$$
(16)

Thus, one can define for every structure of the chiral molecule a parity-violating energy difference

$$\Delta_{\text{pv}} E_{\text{el}}(q_1, q_2, q_3, \dots, q_S) = V_{\text{pvR}}(q_1, q_2, q_3, \dots, q_S) - V_{pvS}(\bar{q}_1, \bar{q}_2, \bar{q}_3, \dots, \bar{q}_S).$$
(17)

These energy differences are typically very small, on the order of 100 aeV or 10^{-11} Jmol⁻¹. They vanish by symmetry for achiral geometries of the molecule. For chiral geometries, they satisfy the antisymmetry relation in Eq. (16). However, even within one set of enantiomeric geometries (say only for the R-isomer), the parity-violating potentials can change sign. Thus there can be, and indeed, there frequently are, vanishing parity violating potentials (and $\Delta_{pv}E_{el}$) also for **chiral** geometries. This property can be understood by the interpretation of the structure of the parity-violating potential as a trace of a tensor, thus the sum of three components of possibly different sign, but it does not depend on this interpretation [77–79]. While well understood, this property spoils any simplistic approach to estimate measurable parity-violating energy differences from theory. They can only be obtained from appropriate theoretical calculation of the parity-violating potential energy hypersurfaces in Eqs. (16), (17) for the relevant set of geometries. Although one can give some simple rules for estimating orders of magnitude of parity-violating potentials, such as the approximate Z^5 scaling with nuclear charge [28, 29, 33, 77-80], large deviations can occur for individual molecules, for instance, if the V_{pv} crosses zero near the chiral equilibrium geometry of the molecule. The chiral molecule 1,3-difluoroallene is such an example [94]. Another example is the amino acid alanine, where one has a zero crossing of $V_{\rm pv}$ as a function of a conformational change which is unrelated to enantiomeric structure [78, 81]. Thus, the actual calculation of the parity-violating potentials by the methods of quantitative electroweak quantum chemistry is necessary, if one wants to obtain accurate results. We do not discuss details here but refer to the careful descriptions in References 29, 77-97 as an incomplete survey of recent work of this kind.

The parity-violating potentials or parity-violating energy differences $\Delta_{pv}E_{el}$ in Eqs. (16) and (17) do not correspond to the directly measurable parity-violating energy difference $\Delta_{pv}E$, for instance, in the ground state energy difference between the R and S enantiomers. This is calculated as an expectation value over $\Delta_{pv}E_{el}$ in the ground rotational–vibrational (perhaps also hyperfine) state. Thus, in practice, one uses

$$\hat{H} = \hat{T} + \hat{V}_R(q_1, q_2, q_3, \dots, q_S)$$
(18)

obtaining ideally

$$\hat{H}\varphi_{\rm evr}^{\rm (k)} = E_{\rm evr}^{\rm (k)}\varphi_{\rm evr}^{\rm (k)} \tag{19}$$



Figure 7. Energy level scheme for a chiral molecule including parity-violating energy differences $\Delta_{pv}E$ and $\Delta_{pv}E^*$ (after Reference 29).

by solving for the complete rovibronic wavefunctions $\varphi_{\text{evr}}^{(k)}(q_1, q_2, q_3, \dots, q_S)$ electronic ground state, and if needed including nonadiabatic and hyperfine structural effects. One obtains the desired parity-violating energy differences as expectation values

$$\Delta_{\rm pv} E^{\rm (k)} = \left\langle \varphi_{\rm evr}^{\rm (k)} \big| \Delta_{\rm pv} E_{el} \big|_{\rm evr}^{\rm (k)} \right\rangle.$$
(20)

Calculations of this type have been presented at various levels of approximation in References 83 and 84, for instance. For the rovibrational ground state ((k = 0), we simply use the symbol $\Delta_{pv}E$ and for some excited states we use $\Delta_{pv}E^*$. As a first approximation, one frequently takes $\Delta_{pv}E_{el}$ at the equilibrium geometry $(q_1^e, q_2^e, \dots, q_S^e)$ in order to estimate $\Delta_{pv}E$ in the ground state. We have shown, however, that the effects from calculating the correct average by means of Eq. (20) can be quite large [84].

Figure 7 illustrates the quantities discussed above in an energy level scheme for the two enantiomers. This scheme can also be used to discuss current experimental approaches. At present there are no successful experiments detecting parity violation in chiral molecules. However, there are three groups pursuing experiments attempting to prove effects from molecular parity violation by gas phase molecular spectroscopy (see Reference 33). These approaches follow two main experimental concepts, which can be illustrated schematically by Figure 7 (see also the recent discussion in Reference 98). One approach follows a proposal of Letokhov [63] to measure the difference between the frequencies in infrared absorption of corresponding lines in the R and S enantiomers. Apart from the early work on CHFClBr [64] and Camphor [65], there has been more recent work by our group using supersonic jet FTIR, diode laser, and FTMW spectroscopy [99, 100]. Under Doppler

limited conditions in a supersonic jet of effective translational temperature T, the best possible relative resolution would be given by

$$\frac{\Delta v_{\rm D}}{v} \simeq 7 \cdot 10^{-7} \sqrt{\frac{T/K}{m/Da}},\tag{21}$$

with mass m of the molecule.

Even at quite low *T*, this is still quite far removed from the necessary resolution to measure $\Delta_{pv}E$, thus the results were used for detailed rovibrational and hyperfine analysis as ground work for a study at much higher resolution explicitly proposed in Reference 100. Such studies were subsequently carried out, reaching resolutions on the order $\Delta v/v \simeq 10^{-14}$ [101, 102], still quite far removed from the necessary values calculated to be below 10^{-16} for CHFClBr. For molecules with more highly charged "heavier" nuclei one might come close to the necessary resolution in the very near future but these have other severe disadvantages (see discussion in Reference 29). This approach has also been proposed to be combined with "cold molecule techniques" [103]. A general disadvantage of this approach is that a "difference of differences" is measured (see Figure 7):

$$\nu_{\rm R} - \nu_{\rm S} = (\Delta_{\rm pv} E^* - \Delta_{\rm pv} E)/h. \tag{22}$$

Thus, $\Delta_{pv}E$ would not be directly accessible, although one could of course compare with theoretical values for $(v_R - v_S)$.

The only realistic scheme to measure $\Delta_{pv}E$ or $\Delta_{pv}E^*$ separately and directly is currently pursued by the Zürich group following a scheme proposed in 1986 [104]. It relies on generating a superposition state of well-defined parity of the kind referred to in Eqs. (3) and (4).

This can be achieved by passing through an intermediate rovibrational state of well-defined parity. Such an intermediate state might be selected in an excited achiral electronic state of the chiral molecule, such as available, for instance, in 1,3 difluoroallene [94]. Such a situation is shown schematically in Figure 8.

One could, however, also use a highly vibrationally excited state in the electronic ground state by making use of "tunneling switching" [105]. We have recently identified such tunneling switching in the case of ortho-deuterophenol [106], an achiral molecule, though, where the small ground state energy difference arises from zero point energy effects, not from parity violation. Independently of which type of state is used, the experiment uses the time sequence of events shown in Figure 9. In the selection and preparation steps 1 and 2, one prepares the superposition "parity isomer," which has the line spectrum shown at the bottom of Figure 10 marked "–." In the evolution step, this evolves then into the spectrum above marked "+," in half a period of motion (Eq. 8). The time evolution of



Figure 8. Experimental scheme to measure $\Delta_{pv}E$ following the proposal of [104] (after Reference 23).

the initially "forbidden" lines (of the not prepared parity isomer π with initial population $y_{\pi}(t=0) = 0$) follows the function

$$y_{\pi} = \sin^2(\pi t \Delta_{\rm pv} E/h) \tag{23a}$$

$$\simeq \pi^2 t^2 \Delta_{\rm pv} E^2 / h^2 \text{ (at small } t)$$
 (23b)



Figure 9. Sequence of steps in the experiment on molecular parity violation (after Reference 98).



Figure 10. Schematic high-resolution line-resolved spectra of the parity isomers (positive shown in *blue* and negative shown in *red*). The normal line spectrum of a chiral molecule (either enantiomers or racemate) is the combination of two separate spectra from parity isomers. If one pure parity isomer is prepared, only its spectrum is observed initially, but as time proceeds the forbidden lines of the other isomer will appear because of parity violation. $n = v/v_0$ is a normalized frequency, and s(n) is the spectral signal [29].

from which $\Delta_{pv}E$ can be obtained if y_{π} is determined experimentally in the selective excitation and detection step in the scheme of Figure 9.

In current experiments, we have already demonstrated this scheme to work on the simple achiral molecule NH₃ [107, 108], but the realization for chiral molecules with more complex spectra and tunneling dynamics remains a task for the future. With this summary, we have a good description of the current status of theory and experiment, which looks bright for the near future, even though the experimental measurement of $\Delta_{pv}E$ remains still open. Once achieved one will gain knowledge on one hand on some fundamental aspects of the Standard Model (SMPP), but also on the comparison of experiment and theory on parity violation and possible consequences for the evolution of biomolecular homochirality to which we turn now. For much more detailed descriptions of both experiment and theory, we refer to References 21, 22, 28, 29, and 33.

Here, we can summarize the main breakthroughs leading to the current status of the field:

- 1. The theoretical breakthrough of the mid to late 1990s [77–81] showed the much larger (1 to 2) orders of magnitude of parity-violating energy differences compared to older theory, which thus became obsolete. This greatly increases the chances for successful experiments.
- The experimental breakthrough of the mid to end 1990s led to the first quantum state resolved and analyzed spectra of chiral molecules in the "optical" (infrared range and to shorter wavelengths) domain [28, 29, 33, 99, 100]. This is an important and necessary step toward a spectroscopic detection of parity violation in ongoing efforts.
- 3. The current experimental work on molecular parity violation based on the advances made in steps 1 and 2 are based on different schemes and one can hope for success in the near future [28, 29, 98, 101–104, 107, 108].

Once experiment and theory on molecular parity violation lead to well established and converging results, we can envisage the study of realistic chemical reaction mechanisms leading to the evolution of biomolecular homochirality on the basis of the "*de lege*" parity violation.

V. THE ORIGIN AND SIGNIFICANCE OF BIOMOLECULAR HOMOCHIRALITY

There exists already a vast literature on this question (see e.g., References 21–25, 109 and references cited therein) and we have reviewed the topic ourselves repeatedly [21, 22, 23, 27]. Thus, we shall concentrate here on the main concepts, following in part [21, 22] and complement this by some additional considerations.

It may be surprising, but it is nevertheless a fact, that there are some basic observations related to the asymmetries summarized in Table I (Section III.B.), where we do not have a proper understanding, but where we have rather some scientific "communities of belief" [24], which have an explanation, which they accept, but where we have actually alternative explanations (and the corresponding "alternative communities of belief") and we do not know which of the alternative (and often several) explanations of the observed phenomenon is correct. Thus the lack of understanding does not result from a lack of explanations for the observed phenomena, but from the lack of experimental or theoretical evidence to decide which of the several hypotheses is correct. These questions thus remain open and we can phrase them in the form of questions such as,

What is ...

- 1. the nature of molecular chirality?
- 2. the origin of biomolecular homochirality?
- 3. the origin of the very substantial excess of matter over antimatter in the presently observable Universe?
- 4. the origin of the irreversibility of physical–chemical processes, which can be related to our observation of a "direction of time," resulting in processes with a given direction from past to future, with the reverse processes not being observed?

From the discussion in Section IV, we can conclude that the first question can to some extent be answered by theory, although experimental confirmation remains still desirable. The other three questions remain open [21, 22] and we shall concentrate here on the second question of homochirality.

In the case of the evolution of homochirality, one can distinguish in principle two steps:

- 1. The initial generation of a (possibly small) excess of one enantiomer.
- 2. The reinforcement of this excess through various physical–chemical mechanisms, which can be abiotic as well as biotic.

Naturally both steps can be connected with each other. There are many mechanisms known, which in step 2 amplify the excess of one enantiomer, independent of how the original enantiomeric excess arose. Over the past few decades, a multitude of processes have been investigated and more or less well characterized. No limits seem to be set here for the creativity of chemists and we cannot refer to the very extensive literature here. We refer simply to the most important concepts, which are associated with the various "communities of belief" (see References 23–25 for details).

1. A stochastic "all or nothing" selection of an enantiomer (D or L) can take place as a result of a biochemical selection mechanism [6, 8, 110–114] or

also abiotically, for example, through crystallization and adsorption [115, 116]. According to this hypothesis, only one enantiomer is selected with every single evolution, but at the same time in many, separate evolution experiments D and L molecules are selected with equal probability or equal frequency on the average.

- 2. An accidental external chiral influence of a one-time evolutionary step selects in a preferred manner one enantiomer. Pasteur and later van't Hoff considered such possibilities, and since that time there have been innumerable different proposals of this type. As an example we mention the start of an evolution on a random chiral matrix, for example, a "left-quartz" (L-quartz) crystal [116]. When a favored enantiomer is formed, it could propagate itself and then remain dominant [117]. A currently popular possibility is the generation of an excess of one enantiomer in an interstellar gas cloud through polarized light. This excess could be then carried by meteorites to the early earth and would provide favorable starting conditions for one type of enantiomer. The observation of an excess of enantiomers of chiral biological precursor molecules in meteorites has persuaded many to favor this hypothesis [118].
- 3. A low temperature phase transition causes prebiotically (or, more generally, abiotically) a pure enantiomer on the basis of the parity-violating weak interaction. Enantiomerically pure or enriched organic starting material provides the foundations for a later biotic selection [119–121].
- 4. An enantiomer which is slightly favored, by virtue of thermodynamics or kinetics, by the parity-violating weak interaction gains an advantage through nonlinear kinetic mechanisms and in the end is then exclusively selected [61,62, 122–124] (see also References 25, 27, 77).

These four basic hypotheses can themselves, like the structural hypotheses of chirality, be grouped into *de facto* selection hypotheses (1) and (2), one could also use here the term "spontaneous," depending on whether one has a quantum or classical picture of the process, and the two *de lege* selection hypotheses (3) and (4).

The hypotheses also can be grouped into the two large categories "by chance" (hazard, Zufall) and "of necessity" (nécessité, Notwendigkeit) [30]. These categories of the evolution of homochirality can in principle be distinguished experimentally. If one repeats evolution following the mechanism of the category "chance," life based on L-amino acids will be generated in approximately 50% of the cases, and life based on D-amino acids will be generated in the other 50% of the cases. When a mechanism of the type "necessity" dominates, one would obtain as a result always (or mostly) our L-amino acid life form.

In principle, in order to distinguish the categories experimentally, one must repeat and understand the mechanisms of the origin of life and of evolution in the laboratory. At the moment we seem to be far removed from this, in any case further removed than we are from a measurement of parity violation in chiral molecules. The different hypotheses refer to the question of initial generation of enantiomeric excess. Before assessing the relevance of homochirality to the question of the origin of life a few observations are appropriate concerning the amplification of the excess and its propagation that is how it is passed on to future generations in living systems. We have today quite a good understanding in general terms of both of these, although we do not know, of course, the exact historical sequence of chemical and biological events in Earth history. That a given enantiomeric structure of DNA and proteins is inherited in life is clearly understood by all the molecular mechanisms of inheritance, which are understood reasonably well, at least in principle [6–10]. It is a little less clear, however, why the two enantiomeric forms of life should not coexist (see section II above).

The question of the amplification of an initial, possibly small, enantiomeric excess to obtain a macroscopic amount of just one enantiomer has been well investigated in recent years and there is now quite a large amount of evidence available that such an amplification is possible by several mechanisms, and, indeed, quite likely to occur.

Some early, indirect evidence can be seen in the mere observation that we do find even in the inorganic world such amplification toward a macroscopic (local) enantiomeric excess: We have known large crystals with the separate existence of L-Quartz and D-Quartz for a long time. Thus, locally we observe a macroscopic chiral environment. As far as there is adequate evidence, the statistics of L-Quartz and D-Quartz found on Earth indicate equal probability (i.e., "*de facto* selection" in these terms) [125].

Also, one has found total syntheses of chiral natural products from nonbiochemical (and achiral) starting materials, which lead to large enantiomeric excesses (essentially only one enantiomer) and not to the "expected" racemate. An interesting very early example of this kind has been reported in V. Prelog's autobiography [126], where he refers to a thesis work with this kind of result (and tragic outcome for the student).

Much recent work has concentrated on the spontaneous generation of large enantiomeric excesses by various crystallization mechanisms or by a variety of autocatalytic reaction mechanisms [127–141]. Thus, it seems plausible that some initial enantiomeric excess even in an abiotic environment can be amplified to generate an essentially locally homochiral environment.

It remains open, how this original enantiomeric excess arose. Many hypotheses concerning this have been proposed. Among them is polarized light in a localized astrophysical context. This could generate enantiomeric excesses even in primordial interstellar gas clouds. Enantiomeric excesses found in organic matter from meteorites have sometimes been reported and interpreted in these terms [142, 143], but there remains considerable dispute on this problem.

The Frank mechanism allows for a local selection (but random) of one enantiomeric form even in the absence of any initial excess. Kondepudi and Nelson have proposed autocatalytic reaction mechanisms of selection, where the exclusive de lege selection of the enantiomer preferred by the extremely small enantiomeric excesses due to parity violation is possible in volumes of lakes and on geologically plausible timescales. At this point, we note that the theoretical claims [72–76], that L-amino acids and D-sugars are systematically stabilized by parity violation (compared to their enantiomers) cannot be maintained, as none of the early theoretical results can be maintained due to the erroneous orders of magnitude as discussed in [21–29, 77–82]. There were some debates, whether at least the sign of the early stabilization results might be correct, but there is no real theoretical basis for such a claim and it has been refuted in the case of alanine for instance [81]. Also, it should be clear, that such a "thermodynamic" stabilization is probably not a good approach anyway. In practice one would have to consider transition states for chemical reactions [82], for instance, in appropriate autocatalytic reaction mechanisms. While these statements might make us justly skeptical concerning the importance of molecular parity violation for biomolecular homochirality, this does not at all rule out a possible importance of parity violation in this context. The question remains open to be answered in the future [25].

Thus what summary can we derive from all these diverse observations concerning the question of the role of biomolecular homochirality in the evolution of life? The only form of life we know is homochiral. Thus, we may ask whether this is surprising. We can summarize in this respect as follows:

- (i) It is *not difficult* to explain, how homochiral living systems pass on the information of homochirality to future generations.
- (ii) We know also that an amplification of an initially small enantiomeric excess can be obtained by abiotic (prebiotic) mechanisms of physical chemistry.
- (iii) That such an excess can originate from parity violation "*de lege*" has been demonstrated, in principle, but there are also many other possible "*de facto*" mechanisms.
- (iv) The importance of parity violation for the quantum dynamics of stable chiral molecules can be considered as established.

Given these primary observations, we can draw some further conclusions: In terms of laboratory experiments for which we can now suggest a systematic approach:

- (i) Select (guided by theory) molecules suitable for a spectroscopic measurement of $\Delta_{pv}E$.
- (ii) Synthesize these molecules and carry out high-resolution spectroscopy with them.
- (iii) Prove molecular parity violation and measure $\Delta_{pv}E$ quantitatively.
- (iv) Compare experiment and theory and thereby test theory (to be amended if necessary).

- (v) Use the thus established correct theory to study possible mechanisms of early prebiotic evolution of homochirality, if any.
- (vi) Demonstrate evolution of life in the laboratory and investigate the corresponding mechanism for evolution of homochirality, if so.
- (vii) In independent repeated evolution experiments test for the outcome for homochirality (in terms of *de lege* or *de facto* mechanisms).

While the first four steps might be achieved in the relatively near future, step (v) may be more difficult and steps (vi) and (vii) remain at present in the realm of speculation. However, we clearly can see the crucial role of homochirality in evolution.

Very different from the laboratory approach on Earth, we can also pursue an approach by astronomical and analytical, spectroscopic, and astrophysical observations. Here, biomolecular homochirality can play a key role as a chemical signature of life. If we find in our solar neighborhood (say Mars, Titan etc.) some form of life similar to ours, the observation of D-amino acids and L-sugars would be clear evidence for an independent origin and evolution of life. On the other hand, observing L-amino acids and D-sugars in the extraterrestrial biopolymers would be consistent with both the hypothesis of transport of life in the solar system and an independent evolution. If some previous life were extinct on extraterrestrial objects, we could still search for chemical fossils. However, usually the lifetime of biomolecular matter is considered short, less than a million years for DNA. For proteins from collagens in Dinosaurs survival times of about 80 million years have been claimed but the topic is subject to debate [144, 145].

Going beyond the solar system to the spectroscopy of extrasolar planets, often substances such as water (H₂O) or oxygen (O₂), even ozone (O₃) are taken as signatures for life. However, inorganic matter of this kind can at best be an indication for the *possibilities* for life to exist, not for life itself.

Also the frequent reference to the so-called "prebiotic" molecules [146] observed in the interstellar gas (and elsewhere in the Universe) should be really understood as synonymous with "organic molecules," no evidence for life at all. By this we do not want to question the importance of understanding the chemical composition of interstellar matter [147–149], but it is not directly related to the quest for life in the Universe.

A fairly strong indicator for life would be the spectroscopy of chiral bioorganic molecules as they arise as emissions from woods etc. and a spectroscopic proof of a well-defined consistent homochirality of these compounds, say, by the spectroscopy of extra terrestrial or even extra solar planets or moons. While not a definitive proof for life, this would be very strong evidence in favor of life, as we know of no other mechanism of maintaining a biochemically consistent homochirality, although, of course, isolated enantiomeric excesses can be generated by other means [150]. These are just some examples on how homochirality can be used in conjunction with astrobiology and we shall return to this question below.

MARTIN QUACK

VI. DEAD OR ALIVE, DARK MATTER, COSMOLOGY AND THE WORLD GAME: CONCLUDING REMARKS AND SPECULATIONS

While up to this point, we have stayed on the solid ground of scientific facts or wellfounded hypotheses, even if in many cases the answer had to state "ignoramus," we shall leave this solid ground now and conclude with some remarks of speculation [21]. We refer here also to the "42 grand open questions" in Reference 33.

A. Homochirality of Matter and Cosmology

As is well known, even "nonliving elementary matter" shows a strange kind of homochirality which has led us before to some cosmological speculations [21, 22, 23, 29]. It is interestingly related to molecular chirality and fundamental symmetries.

Figure 11 provides an overview of chiral molecules in their four different enantiomeric forms being made of matter and antimatter. As we have discussed in Reference 39, spectroscopic investigations of these four "isomeric" molecules are well suited, in principle, for a very sensitive test of the underlying CPT symmetry of the combination of C, P, and T. Such experiments are certainly imaginable [34, 39] with sources of antimatter being in principle available today, however, they are not to be expected in the near future.

One can view the diagram in Figure 11 also in another fashion, highly speculative, and interpret it without a "solid" theoretical basis [29]. If one takes L as the normal, left-handed (strictly speaking, left helical) neutrino, then R* would correspond to the right-handed antineutrino (antimatter). The right-handed neutrino (R) made of normal matter has not been observed: the simplest assumption is that it does not exist. One can, however, imagine that it exists as a particle of very large mass, $\Delta_{pv}E = mc^2$ would then be the parity-violating energy difference, for which one in complete absence of further information could assume values up to the GeV or TeV region. An interesting aspect of this speculation is the possibility of such

Figure 11. Diagram of enantiomeric molecules (L and R) made of matter and antimatter (L* and R*) with the notation "Left" and "Right," used by physicists for the enantiomers instead of D/L or R/S. With CPT symmetry, the pair L and R* (L* and R) have the same energy. Thus $|\Delta E_{pv}| = |\Delta E_{pv}^*| = |\Delta E_{cv}^R| = |\Delta E_{cv}^R|$. The experiment proposed in Reference 39 could observe a departure from this relationship and a CPT symmetry violation with a relative precision of about $\Delta m/m = 10^{-30}$. If one interprets L and R* as neutrino and antineutrino, then R would be a possible heavy enantiomeric neutrino (see text, after References 29 and 39).



primordial heavy neutrinos being the cause of the so-called "dark matter," which has been proven by astrophysicists to exist because of its gravitational effects. Its effects dominate over those of the "visible" matter (mainly H and He). The nature of dark matter is unknown. So-called WIMPS (weakly interacting massive particles) are one possibility. Heavy neutrinos could be one kind of such WIMPS and contribute to the dark matter [29].²

One might address the question of how such dark matter might be observed in the laboratory, beyond indirect astronomical observation, which is subject to debate [151, 152]. Some experiments exist (all unsuccessful). We might note here that spectroscopy could provide a route [33]. The observation of a "heavy dark matter neutrino" (if any) is subject to similar problems as the observation of the "light dark matter neutrinos," which are required by current standard cosmology as remnants from the big bang (analogous to the 2.7 K blackbody background radiation, but with different timing and temperature, of course). These light neutrinos, which are expected to exist, contribute very little to dark matter and are very difficult to detect because of their low energy. They have not been detected, in contrast to the solar neutrinos of high energy. The suggestion for new experiments would be a two-step approach: One might build a "detector" which moves at high relativistic speed compared to the cosmological background neutrinos (one might use the chlorine experiment or something similar). Because of the high speed of the detector one could have similarly high collision energies as with the solar neutrinos, thus allowing detection by the same or similar means. Obviously the experiment must be modified [159], as it is not appropriate to accelerate tons of C₂Cl₄ to relativistic speeds. Once the "light dark matter" neutrinos are detected one could think of a similar experiment to find the "heavy dark matter" neutrinos. Obviously, some theory would be helpful to conceive an appropriate reaction partner for these. Clearly these things are something for the future, not for today or tomorrow.

² The "dark matter" should be distinguished from the so-called dark energy which is discussed briefly by M. Eigen in [10]. The expression "dark energy" has been introduced as a result of cosmological considerations, the interpretation of which is still subject to large uncertainty. As opposed to this, the existence of "dark matter," through its gravitational effects in the dynamics of galaxies, is confirmed by many astronomical observations, and is thought of as certain. This was concluded by Fritz Zwicky decades ago and has been confirmed many times since then. These conclusions are just as well-founded as for example the earlier conclusions about the existence of the outer planets in our solar system, by observation of their gravitational effects on the courses of the inner planets which had previously been observed. The existence of the outer planets was then later confirmed through direct observation. The gravitational effect on the observed courses of the galaxies is also confirmed in the case of dark matter. An alternative interpretation would require a modification of the laws of classical mechanics and gravitation and this is thought to be very unlikely. The nature of dark matter is not known however. Speculations range from "difficult to see" normal matter (ionized interstellar hydrogen gas or a multitude of small planets are discussed here) up to new elementary particles, which display few interactions with normal matter, but obey gravitation in a normal fashion (so-called WIMPS).

B. The World Game

A further cosmological speculation also points to the importance of the symmetry violations. In References 34 and 35, we proposed a "world game," which is illustrated in Figure 12.

This was inspired by the book of Eigen and Winkler, which discusses various other types of "games" [111]. In our world game, there is a leader of the game, who draws tetrahedral dice of the type illustrated in Figure 12 out of one of two boxes (shown at the bottom of the figure). The sides of the dice L, L*, R, and R* correspond to the chiral molecules in the diagram in Figure 11. In the *de lege* box, one finds four different types of dice, in which each individual die shows one symbol on all four sides (e.g., L on all four sides, or L* on all four sides, etc.). In the *de facto* box, there are only identical dice, but these have four different sides L, L*, R, R*. The players (the scientists) are permitted to make one throw of one

Origin of Matter and Life The World Game M. Q. J. Mol. Struct. 347, 245 (1995) section 5, p. 262 Many Players and one Game Leader with two boxes of tetrahedral dice (I) De lege (II) De facto Mixed set of 4 types One type Each all equal faces 4 different faces L 40% i.e or R R R 20% 20% 0 Ľ R R' 20% or

> Game Leader draws from boxes: Players Observe one Face



Figure 12. The world game. The different types of dice used in the game are shown schematically with their four tetrahedral faces and the *de lege* box (bottom left) and the *de facto* box (bottom right). In the middle we show the single face allowed for observation (after References 34 and 35).

die which the game leader has drawn, and are only permitted to observe one side of this die: the side facing them. They must then guess from which box the die has been drawn (*de facto* or *de lege*). Guessing correctly means winning.

If the *de lege* box has the same number of dice of each type, and the game leader is honest (statistical) when he draws the dice, there is only chance or luck as an overall strategy (therefore no real strategy). If, however, a player knows that the distribution in the *de lege* box is not uniform (symmetry violation, for example, 40% L and 20% each from the three others), then he will win if he guesses always that the dice are from the *de lege* box when he sees the L side of a die. Otherwise he will guess that the dice are from the *de lege* box an L amino acid world, is obvious [34, 35]. If one understood the mechanisms of symmetry violation and their consequences on the evolution of matter and life in detail, then "*de lege*" would have to be at the moment the correct and best possible answer.

Sometimes one finds a statement that because of our truly singular, isolated observation of an "L-amino acid–D-sugar world" no conclusion can be drawn on the mechanism of the early evolution of homochirality. As we have pointed out before [35, 39], this is not quite true. In terms of the world game we can draw from our present observation already the conclusion, that the mechanism *cannot* be a 100% bias in favor of selection a D-amino acid L-sugar world.

C. Life and Death in the Universe and the Question of Consciousness and Free Will

We have in this chapter addressed the question of "life" in terms of the general biological and biochemical mechanism of "living matter." There exists another question which is quite different in a subtle way: When is an individual alive and when is it dead? Following Erwin Schrödinger, let us consider a cat (Figure 13). It is not *a priori* obvious, what we mean by saying the cat is alive or dead, even though intuitively we think that we can decide in a given case. One must note, however, that even an alive cat, which might be old or sterilized, would not be able to contribute to propagation and evolution of "life," which would be required by some definitions of life (here we talk about "cat life"). On the other hand, a lot of life continues in the body of a dead cat (bacteria, worms, etc.), thus life as such has not ended in this cat, although "cat life" has ended. The question is then what we understand by the question of life and death of an individual. One way to express this in physical–chemical terms is related to symmetries and constants of the motion or conserved quantum numbers.

As long as the individual exists "alive," we can identify a conserved quantum number associated with his property, say "alive" = +1 (like positive parity). When the individual dies, the quantum number changes, say dead = -1 (like negative parity). Of course, the famous Schrödinger cat would be one, where we have a superposition state with both values of the quantum number at the same time. A



Figure 13. Schrödinger's cat: dead and alive (communicated privately to us by R. N. Zare).

completely similar argument can be made by using the quantum numbers ρ and λ for the enantiomers of a chiral molecule.

The question remains, how exactly to measure the quantum number for "alive" or "dead." This is not so clear and it might be that this is a limitation for the use of quantum dynamics in such cases (and a limitation for Schrödinger's analogy).

In human beings, the concept of "alive" is sometimes associated with the concept of freedom of action and "free will." Schrödinger's book [1] has a chapter on this. We have shown in Reference 153 that our intuitive concept of freedom of will is inconsistent with molecular quantum mechanics, if decisions are made as a consequence of molecular processes in the brain. This interesting result is not widely appreciated.

D. SETI and Extraterrestrial Homochirality

The quest for extraterrestrial life and homochirality within our solar system is clearly technically feasible and may happen in the present century, if human civilization is maintained. To obtain definitive proof of life in extrasolar planetary systems, perhaps even other galaxies, might be very difficult, even though we have argued above that spectroscopic detection of a consistent homochirality would provide a very strong clue. This is possible in the future, even if very difficult.

There is another route to such a proof, which would be receiving and decoding messages from an extrasolar civilization. While an exchange of messages is difficult because of the timescales involved, understanding messages would be possible, in principle, if received from some civilization (if any). This is the well-known "Search for Extraterrestrial Intelligence" (SETI). Some science fiction stories start such messages with the sequence of prime numbers from which then a code could be derived to successively derive more complex messages (see also ref 160). Then this civilization could inform us about their biochemistry and homochirality. Given parity violation, they could inform us in an unambiguous way about their biomolecular homochirality (if any).

E. Search for Terrestrial Intelligence (STI)

One could argue that rather than addressing the very difficult project of a search for extraterrestrial intelligence, one should start with a "Search for Terrestrial Intelligence" (STI). Indeed, I have done personal researches in this direction. I have searched with political and religious leaders, scientists, university administrations, and so forth and was consistently disappointed. No terrestrial intelligence to be found anywhere. Then I was told to extend my search to Chicago with the hint that there was some being which just turned 240 years old with the label "SBJJSAR" and finally the STI was successful right here: Happy 240 Birthday!

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

This paper is justly dedicated to Stephen Berry, Joshua Jortner, and Stuart Rice, who have been my teachers in many ways over many years. For S. B. and S. A. R., I can refer to Reference 154, which I have recommended to my students for decades, and to many conversations. Joshua Jortner has been in person a teacher of mine starting 40 years ago in the Swiss Jura (see Reference 153). Thanks to all of them.

The work reviewed here has obviously profited from the help of many coworkers as cited by the references. Special thanks go to Ruth Schüpbach for transforming my handwriting into proper manuscripts. Our work is supported financially by ETH Zürich, Schweizerischer Nationalfonds and the European Research Council. The research leading to these results has received funding from the European Research Council under the European Union's Seventh Framework program (FP7/2007-2013) EBC grant No. 290925. The contact address of the author is

Prof. Martin Quack ETH Zürich, Physical Chemistry CH-8093 Zürich, Switzerland Email: Martin@Quack.CH

APPENDIX

On Nomenclature

In this review, we have not used a systematic nomenclature for enantiomers of chiral molecules. Rather, depending on the context, we have used either the "physical" notation for left and right (L and R or λ and ρ) or the old biochemical notation (D and L) which is still widely used in the biochemical and biological literature. Today, in principle, one should use the systematic nomenclature (R and S or P and M), which we have used as well. This should not lead to confusion (see also References [4, 155]; [156–159]).

REFERENCES

- 1. E. Schrödinger, *What is life? The physical aspect of the living cell* (University Press, Cambridge, 1951). Based on lectures delivered in 1943.
- 2. S. Leach, Origin of Life, cited here from the oral presentation at this meeting, 2012.
- 3. S. Leach, *Physical chemistry: extending the boundaries*, in *Astrochemistry and Astrobiology*, edited by I. W. M. Smith, C. S. Cockell, and S. Leach (Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2013), Chapter 10. pp. 307–341, ISBN 978-3-642-31729-3.
- 4. J. Jortner, Conditions for the Emergence of Life on the Early Earth: Summary and Reflections, *Philos. Trans. Biol. Sci.* **361**, 1877–1891 (2006).
- 5. K. Al-Shamery (Ed.), Moleküle aus dem All? (Wiley-VCH, Weinheim, 2011).
- 6. M. Eigen, Self-organization of matter and the evolution of biological macromolecules, *Naturwissenschaften* **58**, 465–523 (1971).
- M. Eigen, J. McCaskill, and P. Schuster, Molecular quasi-species, J. Phys. Chem. 92, 6881–6891 (1988).
- 8. M. Eigen, Stufen zum Leben (Piper, München, 1987).
- 9. M. Eigen, Steps Towards Life (Oxford University Press, 1996).
- M. Eigen, Natürliche Auslese—eine physikalische Gesetzmässigkeit, in *Moleküle aus dem All?*, edited by K. Al-Shamery (Wiley-VCH, Weinheim, 2011), Chapter 10, pp. 225–242, ISBN 978-3-527-32877-2.
- 11. A. Eschenmoser, Chemistry of Potentially Prebiological Natural-Products, *Orig. Life Evol. Biosph.* 24, 389–423 (1994).
- 12. J.-M. Lehn, Toward Self-Organization and Complex Matter, Science 295, 2400–2403 (2002).
- 13. J.-M. Lehn, Toward complex matter: Supramolecular chemistry and self-organization, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **99**, 4763–4768 (2002).

- 14. P. L. Luisi, The Emergence of life (Cambridge University Press, 2006).
- 15. S. L. Miller and L. E. Orgel, *The Origins of Life on the Earth* (Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, NJ, 1974).
- L. E. Orgel, *The Origin of Life* Molecules and Natural Selection (Chapman and Hall ltd, London, 1973).
- 17. L. E. Orgel, The origin of life—a review of facts and speculations, *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 23, 491–495 (1998).
- M. Quack, The symmetries of time and space and their violation in chiral molecules and molecular processes, in *Conceptual Tools for Understanding Nature*, Proc. 2nd Int. Symp. of Science and Epistemology Seminar, Trieste April 1993, edited by G. Costa, G. Calucci, and M. Giorgi (World Scientific Publ., Singapore, 1995), pp. 172–208, ISBN 981-02-2144-4.
- M. Quack, Die Symmetrie von Zeit und Raum und ihre Verletzung in molekularen Prozessen, in Jahrbuch 1990-1992 der Akademie der Wissenschaften zu Berlin, (W. de Gruyter Verlag, Berlin, 1993), pp. 467–507.
- 20. V. Prelog, Chirality in Chemistry, in Les prix Nobel 1975, Nobel Lectures (1975).
- M. Quack, Molecular parity violation and chirality: the asymmetry of life and the symmetry violations of physics, in *Quantum Systems in Chemistry and Physics: Progress in Methods and Applications*, Proceedings of QSCP XVI, Kanazawa 11 to 17 September 2011, edited by K. Nishikawa, J. Maruani, E. Brändas, G. Delgado-Barrio, and P. Piecuch (Springer Science+Business Media, Dordrecht, 2012), ISBN 978-94-007-5296-2.
- M. Quack, Die Asymmetrie des Lebens und die Symmetrieverletzungen der Physik: Molekulare Paritätsverletzung und Chiralität, in *Moleküle aus dem All?*, edited by K. Al-Shamery (Wiley-VCH, Weinheim, 2011), Chapter 12, pp. 277 – 310ISBN 978-3-527-32877-2.
- 23. M. Quack, Intramolekulare Dynamik: Irreversibilität, Zeitumkehrsymmetrie und eine absolute Moleküluhr, *Nova Acta Leopoldina* **81**, 137–173 (1999).
- M. Quack, Structure and dynamics of chiral molecules, *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. (Engl.)* 28, 571–586 (1989), *Angew. Chem.* 101, 588–604. Note that the second line of the abstract there is misprinted. It should read "chiral molecule," instead of "molecule", see also German version.
- 25. M. Quack, How important is parity violation for molecular and biomolecular chirality?, *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. (Engl.)* **41**, 4618–4630 (2002), *Angew. Chem.* **2002**, **114**, 4812–4825.
- 26. M. Quack and J. Stohner, Parity violation in chiral molecules, *Chimia* **59**, 530–538 (2005), (Erratum for printer's errors: *Chimia* 59: 712–12).
- 27. M. Quack, Electroweak quantum chemistry and the dynamics of parity violation in chiral molecules, in *Modelling Molecular Structure and Reactivity in Biological Systems*, Proc. 7th WATOC Congress, Cape Town January 2005, edited by K. J. Naidoo, J. Brady, M. J. Field, J. Gao, and M. Hann (Royal Society of Chemistry, Cambridge, 2006), pp. 3–38, ISBN 0-85404-668-2.
- 28. M. Quack, J. Stohner, M. Willeke, High-resolution spectroscopic studies and theory of parity violation in chiral molecules, *Annu. Rev. Phys. Chem.* **59**, 741–769 (2008).
- 29. M. Quack, Fundamental symmetries and symmetry violations from high resolution spectroscopy, in *Handbook of High Resolution Spectroscopy*, edited by M. Quack and F. Merkt (Wiley, Chichester, New York, 2011), Vol. 1, Chapter 18, pp. 659–722, ISBN 978-0-470-06653-9.
- 30. J. Monod, *Le Hasard et la Nécessité Essai sur la philosophie naturelle de la biologie moderne* (Editions du Seuil, Paris, 1970).
- X. Bonfils, X. Delfosse, S. Udry, T. Forveille, M. Mayor, C. Perrier, F. Bouchy, M. Gillon, C. Lovis, F. Pepe, D. Queloz, N. C. Santos, D. Segransan, J. L. Bertaux, The HARPS search for southern extra-solar planets XXXI. The M-dwarf sample, *Astronomy Astrophysics* 549, A109 (2013).

MARTIN QUACK

- 32. M. Quack, The Role of Quantum Intramolecular Dynamics in Unimolecular Reactions, *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. London* A **332**, 203–220 (1990).
- 33. M. Quack, Frontiers in spectroscopy, in Faraday Discussions, Vol. 150, pp. 533–565, 2011.
- M. Quack, Molecular spectra, reaction dynamics, symmetries and life, *Chimia* 57, 147–160 (2003).
- 35. M. Quack, Molecular infrared-spectra and molecular-motion, J. Mol. Struct. 347, 245–266 (1995).
- M. Quack, Molecular Quantum Dynamics from High-Resolution Spectroscopy and Laser Chemistry, J. Mol. Struct. 292, 171–195 (1993).
- 37. M. Quack, Detailed symmetry selection-rules for reactive collisions, *Mol. Phys.* **34**, 477–504 (1977).
- M. Quack, Detailed symmetry selection rules for chemical reactions, in *Symmetries and Properties of Non-rigid Molecules: A Comprehensive Survey.*, Vol. 23 edited by J. Maruani and J. Serre (Elsevier Publishing Co., Amsterdam, 1983), pp. 355–378, ISBN 0-444-42174-2.
- M. Quack, On the measurement of CP-violating energy differences in matter-antimatter enantiomers, *Chem. Phys. Lett.* 231, 421–428 (1994).
- 40. K. Mainzer, Symmetrien der Natur. Ein Handbuch zur Natur- und Wissenschaftsphilosophie., de Gruyter, Berlin, 1988.
- 41. T. D. Lee, *Symmetries, Asymmetries and the World of Particles* (University of Washington Press, Seattle, 1988).
- M. Quack, Molecular femtosecond quantum dynamics between less than yoctoseconds and more than days: Experiment and theory, in *Femtosecond Chemistry*, Proc. Berlin Conf. Femtosecond Chemistry, Berlin (March 1993), edited by J. Manz and L. Woeste (Verlag Chemie, Weinheim, 1995), Chapter 27, pp. 781–818.
- 43. A. Einstein, *Grundzüge der Relativitätstheorie* (Vieweg, Wiesbaden, 1922), The original is in German: "Es gibt also zweierlei kartesische Koordinatensysteme, welche man als "Rechtssysteme" und "Linkssysteme" bezeichnet. Der Unterschied zwischen beiden ist jedem Physiker und Ingenieur geläufig. Interessant ist, dass man Rechtssysteme bzw. Linkssysteme an sich nicht geometrisch definieren kann, wohl aber die Gegensätzlichkeit beider Systeme."
- 44. M. Gardner and J. Mackey, *The Ambidextrous Universe: Mirror Asymmetry and Time-Reversed Worlds* (Basic Books Publisher, New York, 1964).
- 45. J. H. van't Hoff, *La chimie dans l'espace* edited by B. M. Bazendijk (Rotterdam, 1887), (reprinted with commentary in [46]).
- 46. C. Bourgois (Ed.), A. Werner, Louis Pasteur, Jacobus Henricus van't Hoff, Recherches sur la dissymétrie moléculaire (1860-1883), (Dole, 1986).
- 47. F. Hund, Symmetriecharaktere von Termen bei Systemen mit gleichen Partikeln in der Quantenmechanik, Z. Phys. 43, 788–804 (1927).
- 48. F. Hund, Zur Deutung der Molekelspektren III. Bemerkungen über das Schwingungs- und Rotationsspektrum bei Molekeln mit mehr als zwei Kernen, Z. Phys. 43, 805–826 (1927).
- B. Kuhn, T. R. Rizzo, D. Luckhaus, M. Quack, and M. A. Suhm, A new six-dimensional analytical potential up to chemically significant energies for the electronic ground state of hydrogen peroxide, *J. Chem. Phys.* **111**, 2565–2587 (1999). 135 pages of supplementary material published as AIP Document No PAPS JCPS A6-111-302905 by American Institute of Physics.
- 50. B. Fehrensen, D. Luckhaus, M. Quack, Mode selective stereomutation tunnelling in hydrogen peroxide isotopomers, *Chem. Phys. Lett.* **300**, 312–320 (1999).
- B. Fehrensen, D. Luckhaus, and M. Quack, Stereomutation dynamics in hydrogen peroxide, *Chem. Phys.* 338, 90–105 (2007).
- 52. T. D. Lee and C. N. Yang, Question of Parity Conservation in Weak Interactions, *Phys. Rev.* **104**, 254–258 (1956).

- 53. C. S. Wu, E. Ambler, R. W. Hayward, D. D. Hoppes, and R. P. Hudson, Experimental test of parity conservation in beta decay, *Phys. Rev.* **105**, 1413–1415 (1957).
- 54. J. I. Friedman and V. L. Telegdi, Nuclear emulsion evidence for parity nonconservation in the decay chain $\pi^+ \mu^+ \epsilon^+$, *Phys. Rev.* **105**, 1681–1682 (1957).
- R. L. Garwin, L. M. Lederman, and M. Weinrich, Observations of the failure of conservation of parity and charge conjugation in meson decays – magnetic moment of the free muon, *Phys. Rev.* 105, 1415–1417 (1957).
- 56. S. L. Glashow, Partial-symmetries of weak interactions, Nucl. Phys. 22, 579–588 (1961).
- 57. S. Weinberg, A model of leptons, Phys. Rev. Lett. 19, 1264–1266 (1967).
- 58. A. Salam, Weak and electromagnetic interactions, in *Elementary particle theory: Relativistic groups and analyticity. Proceedings of the 8th Nobel Symposium held May 19-25, 1968 at Aspenäsgården, Lerum, in the county of Älvsborg, Sweden*, edited by N. Svartholm (Almkvist & Wiksell, Stockholm, 1968), pp. 367–377.
- 59. M. J. G. Veltman, Nobel lecture: From weak interactions to gravitation, *Rev. Mod. Phys.* 72, 341–349 (2000).
- 60. G. 't Hooft, Nobel lecture: A confrontation with infinity, Rev. Mod. Phys. 72, 333–339 (2000).
- 61. Y. Yamagata, A hypothesis for the asymmetric appearance of biomolecules on earth, *J. Theor. Biol.* **11**, 495–498 (1966).
- 62. D. W. Rein, Some Remarks on Parity Violating Effects of Intramolecular Interactions, *J. Mol. Evol.* **4**, 15–22 (1974).
- 63. V. S. Letokhov, Difference of energy-levels of left and right molecules due to weak interactions, *Phys. Lett. A* **53**, 275–276 (1975).
- 64. O. N. Kompanets, A. R. Kukudzhanov, V. S. Letokhov, and L. L. Gervits, Narrow resonances of saturated absorption of asymmetrical molecule CHFClBr and possibility of weak current detection in molecular physics, *Opt. Commun.* **19**, 414–416 (1976).
- 65. E. Arimondo, P. Glorieux, and T. Oka, Observation of inverted infrared Lamb dips in separated optical isomers, *Opt. Commun.* 23, 369–372 (1977).
- 66. R. A. Harris and L. Stodolsky, Quantum beats in optical-activity and weak interactions, *Phys. Lett. B* **78**, 313–317 (1978).
- 67. R. A. Harris and L. Stodolsky, On the time-dependence of optical-activity, *J. Chem. Phys.* 74, 2145–2155 (1981).
- 68. M. A. Bouchiat and C. Bouchiat, Parity violation induced by weak neutral currents in atomic physics .1, *Journal De Physique* **35**, 899–927 (1974).
- 69. M. A. Bouchiat and C. Bouchiat, Parity Violation Induced by Weak Neutral Currents in Atomic Physics .2, *Journal De Physique* **36**, 493–509 (1975).
- 70. R. A. Hegström, D. W. Rein, and P. G. H. Sandars, Calculation of the parity non-conserving energy difference between mirror-image molecules, *J. Chem. Phys.* **73**, 2329–2341 (1980).
- 71. S. F. Mason and G. E. Tranter, Energy Inequivalence of Peptide Enantiomers from Parity Non-Conservation, J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Comm., 117–119 (1983).
- 72. S. F. Mason and G. E. Tranter, The Parity-Violating Energy Difference between Enantiomeric Molecules, *Chem. Phys. Lett.* **94**, 34–37 (1983).
- 73. S. F. Mason and G. E. Tranter, The parity-violating energy difference between enantiomeric molecules, *Mol. Phys.* 53, 1091–1111 (1984).
- 74. S. F. Mason, Origins of Biomolecular Handedness, Nature 311, 19-23 (1984).
- 75. A. J. MacDermott, G. E. Tranter, and S. B. Indoe, Exceptionally large enantio-selective energy differences from parity violation in sugar precursors, *Chem. Phys. Lett.* **135**, 159–162 (1987).
- 76. A. J. MacDermott and G. E. Tranter, The Search for Large Parity-Violating Energy Differences between Enantiomers, *Chem. Phys. Lett.* **163**, 1–4 (1989).

- 77. A. Bakasov, T. K. Ha, and M. Quack, Ab initio calculation of molecular energies including parity violating interactions, in *Chemical Evolution, Physics of the Origin and Evolution of Life, Proc. of the 4th Trieste Conference (1995)*, edited by J. Chela-Flores and F. Raulin (Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, 1996), pp. 287–296, ISBN 0-7923-4111-2.
- A. Bakasov, T. K. Ha, and M. Quack, Ab initio calculation of molecular energies including parity violating interactions, *J. Chem. Phys.* 109, 7263–7285 (1998).
- A. Bakasov and M. Quack, Representation of parity violating potentials in molecular main chiral axes, *Chem. Phys. Lett.* 303, 547–557 (1999).
- R. Berger and M. Quack, Multiconfiguration linear response approach to the calculation of parity violating potentials in polyatomic molecules, *J. Chem. Phys.* **112**, 3148–3158 (2000), (cf. R. Berger and M. Quack, Proc. 37th IUPAC Congress Vol. 2, p. 518, Berlin, 1999).
- 81. R. Berger and M. Quack, Electroweak quantum chemistry of alanine: Parity violation in gas and condensed phases, *Chem. Phys. Chem.* **1**, 57–60 (2000).
- R. Berger, M. Quack, and G. S. Tschumper, Electroweak quantum chemistry for possible precursor molecules in the evolution of biomolecular homochirality, *Helv. Chim. Acta* 83, 1919–1950 (2000).
- 83. M. Quack and J. Stohner, Influence of parity violating weak nuclear potentials on vibrational and rotational frequencies in chiral molecules, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **84**, 3807–3810 (2000).
- M. Quack and J. Stohner, Combined multidimensional anharmonic and parity violating effects in CDBrClF, J. Chem. Phys. 119, 11228–11240 (2003).
- A. Bakasov, R. Berger, T. K. Ha, and M. Quack, Ab initio calculation of parity-violating potential energy hypersurfaces of chiral molecules, *Int. J. Quantum Chem.* 99, 393–407 (2004).
- J. K. Laerdahl and P. Schwerdtfeger, Fully relativistic ab initio calculations of the energies of chiral molecules including parity-violating weak interactions, *Phys. Rev. A* 60, 4439–4453 (1999).
- 87. R. Berger, N. Langermann, and C. van Wüllen, Zeroth-order regular approximation approach to molecular parity violation, *Phys. Rev. A* **71**, 042105 (2005).
- L. Horný and M. Quack, On coupled cluster calculations of parity violating potentials in chiral molecules (Discussion contribution), *Faraday Discuss.* 150, 152–154 (2011).
- P. Lazzeretti and R. Zanasi, On the calculation of parity-violating energies in hydrogen peroxide and hydrogen disulphide molecules within the random-phase approximation, *Chem. Phys. Lett.* 279, 349–354 (1997).
- 90. P. Lazzeretti, R. Zanasi, and F. Faglioni, Energetic stabilization of d-camphor via weak neutral currents, *Phys. Rev. E.* **60**, 871–874 (1999).
- 91. A. C. Hennum, T. Helgaker, and W. Klopper, Parity-violating interaction in H₂O₂ calculated from density-functional theory, *Chem. Phys. Lett.* **354**, 274–282 (2002).
- R. Berger, M. Gottselig, M. Quack, and M. Willeke, Parity violation dominates the dynamics of chirality in dichlorodisulfane, *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 40, 4195–4198 (2001), *Angew. Chem.* 2001, *113*, 4342–4345.
- R. Berger, Parity-violation effects in molecules, in *Relativistic Electronic Structure Theory*, edited by P. Schwerdtfeger (Elsevier, Amsterdam, 2004), Vol. Part 2, Chapt. 4, pp. 188– 288.
- M. Gottselig and M. Quack, Steps towards molecular parity violation in axially chiral molecules. I. Theory for allene and 1,3-difluoroallene, *J. Chem. Phys.* 123, 84305-1-84305-11 (2005), 960MU.
- M. Quack and J. Stohner, Molecular chirality and the fundamental symmetries of physics: Influence of parity violation on rovibrational frequencies and thermodynamic properties, *Chirality* 13, 745–753 (2001), (Erratum: *Chirality* 15:375-76).

- 96. M. Quack and J. Stohner, Molecular chirality and the fundamental symmetries of physics: Influence of parity violation on rovibrational frequencies and thermodynamic properties (vol 13, pg 745, 2001), *Chirality* 15, 375–376 (2003), Erratum zu Paper von 2001.
- 97. R. Berger, M. Quack, and J. Stohner, Parity violation in fluorooxirane, *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **40**, 1667–1670 (2001), *Angew. Chemie* 113: 1716-19.
- 98. M. Quack, On experiments to detect parity violation in chiral molecules, *Faraday Discuss.* **150**, 123–127 (2011).
- 99. A. Beil, D. Luckhaus, R. Marquardt, and M. Quack, Intramolecular energy-transfer and vibrational redistribution in chiral molecules – experiment and theory, *Faraday Discuss*. **99**, 49–76 (1994).
- 100. A. Bauder, A. Beil, D. Luckhaus, F. Müller, and M. Quack, Combined high resolution infrared and microwave study of bromochlorofluoromethane, *J. Chem. Phys.* **106**, 7558–7570 (1997).
- C. Daussy, T. Marrel, A. Amy-Klein, C. T. Nguyen, C. J. Bordé, and C. Chardonnet, Limit on the parity nonconserving energy difference between the enantiomers of a chiral molecule by laser spectroscopy, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 83, 1554–1557 (1999).
- J. Crassous, F. Monier, J. P. Dutasta, M. Ziskind, C. Daussy, C. Grain, and C. Chardonnet, Search for resolution of chiral fluorohalogenomethanes and parity-violation effects at the molecular level, *Chem. Phys. Chem*, 4, 541–548 (2003).
- M. Schnell and J. Küpper, Tailored molecular samples for precision spectroscopy experiments, *Faraday Discuss.* 150, 33–49 (2011), DOI: 10.1039/c0fd00009d
- 104. M. Quack, On the measurement of the parity violating energy difference between enantiomers, *Chem. Phys. Lett.* 132, 147–153 (1986). This paper was presented in 1986 at an ETH-Weizmann Institute Symposium in honour of V. Prelog on the occasion of his 80th birthday. The first presentation of the experimental scheme was given as an "extra evening paper" at a meeting in Bielefeld in 1980. This paper did not appear in print, but it was referred to in a paper there by Pfeiffer as "Quack's experiment" [156] (see also [157–159].
- 105. M. Quack and M. Willeke, Stereomutation tunneling switching dynamics and parity violation in chlorineperoxide Cl-O-O-Cl, *J. Phys. Chem. A*, **110**, 3338–3348 (2006).
- 106. S. Albert, P. Lerch, R. Prentner, and M. Quack, Tunneling and Tunneling Switching Dynamics in Phenol and Its Isotopomers from High-Resolution FTIR Spectroscopy with Synchrotron Radiation, *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 52, 346–349 (2013).
- 107. P. Dietiker, M. Quack, A. Schneider, G. Seyfang, and F. Ünlü, IR-laser induced population transfer from highly populated rotational levels of NH₃ in a molecular beam, in *Proceedings of the 18th Symposium on Atomic, Cluster and Surface Physics 2012 (SASP 2012), Alpe d'Huez, France, 22 to 27 January 2012*, edited by M. Lewerenz, O. Dutuit, and R. Marquardt (Innsbruck University Press (IUP), Innsbruck, 2012), pp. 263–267, ISBN 978-3-902811-42-4.
- 108. P. Dietiker, E. Miloglyadov, M. Quack, A. Schneider, G. Seyfang, Two Photon IR-Laser Induced Population Transfer in NH₃ – First Steps to Measure Parity Violation in Chiral Molecules, in *Proc. of the 49th SASP (2014) pages 152–155*, D. Stock, R. Wester, P. Scheier eds. Innsbruck University Press, Innsbruck (2014).
- 109. P. Frank, W. Bonner, and R. N. Zare, On the one hand but not on the other: The challenge of the origin and survival of homochirality in prebiotic chemistry, in *Chemistry for the 21st century*, edited by E. Keinan and I. Schechter (Wiley-VCH, Weinheim, 2001), Chapt. 11, pp. 175–208, ISBN 3-527-30235-2.
- 110. F. C. Frank, On spontaneous asymmetric synthesis, *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 11, 459–463 (1953).
- 111. M. Eigen and R. Winkler, Das Spiel (Piper, München, 1975).
- 112. M. Bolli, R. Micura, and A. Eschenmoser, Pyranosyl-RNA: Chiroselective self-assembly of base sequences by ligative oligomerization of tetranucleotide-2',3'- cyclophosphates (with a

commentary concerning the origin of biomolecular homochirality), *Chem. Biol.* **4**, 309–320 (1997).

- 113. J. S. Siegel, Homochiral imperative of molecular evolution, *Chirality* **10**, 24–27 (1998).
- 114. W. Fuss, Does Life Originate from a Single Molecule?, *Chirality* 21, 299–304 (2009).
- 115. W. A. Bonner, Chirality and Life, Orig. Life Evol. Biosph. 25, 175-190 (1995).
- 116. P. R. Kavasmaneck and W. A. Bonner, Adsorption of Amino-Acid Derivatives by D-Quartz and L-Quartz, *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **99**, 44–50 (1977).
- 117. H. Kuhn and J. Waser, Self organization of matter and the early evolution of life, in *Biophysics*, edited by W. Hoppe, W. Lohmann, H. Markl, and H. Ziegler (Springer, Berlin, 1983).
- 118. U. Meierhenrich, Aminoacids and the Asymmetry of Life (Springer, Berlin, 2008).
- 119. A. Salam, Chirality, Phase-Transitions and Their Induction in Amino-Acids, *Phys. Lett. B* 288, 153–160 (1992).
- 120. A. Salam, On biological macromolecules and the phase transitions they bring about, in *Conceptual Tools for Understanding Nature*. Proc. 2nd Intl. Symp. of Science and Epistemology Seminar, Trieste 1993, edited by G. Costa, G. Calucci, and M. Giorgi (World Scientific Publ., Singapore, 1995).
- 121. J. Chela-Flores, Comments on a Novel-Approach to the Role of Chirality in the Origin of Life, *Chirality* **3**, 389–392 (1991).
- 122. S. F. Mason, *Chemical Evolution: Origins of the Elements, Molecules and Living Systems.*, (Clarendon Press, Oxford, 1991).
- 123. D. K. Kondepudi and G. W. Nelson, Weak Neutral Currents and the Origin of Biomolecular Chirality, *Nature* **314**, 438–441 (1985).
- 124. R. Janoschek, Theories on the origin of biomolecular homochirality, in *Chirality From Weak Bosons to the α-Helix*, edited by R. Janoschek (Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1991), Chapt. 2, pp. 18–33, ISBN 3-540-53920-4.
- 125. J. M. McBride, Prelog Lecture ETH Zurich (1992).
- 126. V. Prelog, *My 132 semesters of chemistry studies* (American Chemical Society, Washington, DC, 1991).
- K. Mislow, Absolute Asymmetric Synthesis: A Commentary, *Collect. Czech. Chem. Commun.* 68, 849–864 (2003).
- H. Zepik, E. Shavit, M. Tang, T. R. Jensen, K. Kjaer, G. Bolbach, L. Leiserowitz, I. Weissbuch, and M. Lahav, Chiral Amplification of Oligopeptides in Two-Dimensional Crystalline Self-Assemblies on Water, *Science* 295, 1266–1269 (2002).
- 129. K. Soai, T. Shibata, H. Morioka, and K. Choji, Asymmetric autocatalysis and amplification of enantiomeric excess of a chiral molecule, *Nature* **378**, 767–768 (1995).
- 130. T. Shibata, J. Yamamoto, N. Matsumoto, S. Yonekubo, S. Osanai, and K. Soai, Amplification of a slight enantiomeric imbalance in molecules based on asymmetric autocatalysis: The first correlation between high enantiomeric enrichment in a chiral molecule and circularly polarized light, *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **120**, 12157–12158 (1998).
- K. Soai, S. Osanai, K. Kadowaki, S. Yonekubo, T. Shibata, and I. Sato, d- and l-quartz-promoted highly enantioselective synthesis of a chiral organic compound, *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 121, 11235– 11236 (1999).
- 132. T. Kawasaki, Y. Matsumura, T. Tsutsumi, K. Suzuki, M. Ito, and K. Soai, Asymmetric Autocatalysis Triggered by Carbon Isotope (C-13/C-12) Chirality, *Science* **324**, 492–495 (2009).
- C. Girard and H. B. Kagan, Nonlinear Effects in Asymmetric Synthesis and Stereoselective Reactions: Ten Years of Investigation, *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 37, 2922–2959 (1998).

- 134. D. G. Blackmond, C. R. McMillan, S. Ramdeehul, A. Schorm, and J. M. Brown, Origins of Asymmetric Amplification in Autocatalytic Alkylzinc Additions, *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **123**, 10103–10104 (2001).
- 135. M. Mauksch, S. B. Tsogoeva, I. M. Martynova, and S. Wei, Evidence of Asymmetric Autocatalysis in Organocatalytic Reactions, *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **46**, 393–396 (2007).
- 136. C. Viedma, Chiral Symmetry Breaking During Crystallization: Complete Chiral Purity Induced by Nonlinear Autocatalysis and Recycling, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **94**, 065504 (2005).
- 137. D. G. Blackmond, "Chiral Amnesia" as a Driving Force for Solid-Phase Homochirality, *Chem. Eur. J.* **13**, 3290–3295 (2007).
- C. Viedma, Chiral Symmetry Breaking and Complete Chiral Purity by Thermodynamic-Kinetic Feedback Near Equilibrium: Implications for the Origin of Biochirality, *Astrobiology* 7, 312–319 (2007).
- 139. J. M. McBride and R. L. Carter, Spontaneous Resolution by Stirred Crystallization, *Angewandte Chemie International Edition in English* **30**, 293–295 (1991).
- 140. R. Breslow and M. S. Levine, Amplification of enantiomeric concentrations under credible prebiotic conditions, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **103**, 12979–12980 (2006).
- 141. R. Breslow and Z.-L. Cheng, On the origin of terrestrial homochirality for nucleosides and amino acids, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **106**, 9144–9146 (2009).
- 142. S. Pizzarello, The Chemistry of Life's Origin: A Carbonaceous Meteorite Perspective, Acc. Chem. Res. **39**, 231–237 (2006).
- S. Pizzarello, Chemical Evolution and Meteorites: An Update, Orig. Life Evol. Biosph. 34, 25–34 (2004).
- 144. M. H. Schweitzer, W. Zheng, C. L. Organ, R. Avci, Z. Suo, L. M. Freimark, V. S. Lebleu, M. B. Duncan, M. G. Vander Heiden, J. M. Neveu, W. S. Lane, J. S. Cottrell, J. R. Horner, L. C. Cantley, R. Kalluri, and J. M. Asara, Biomolecular Characterization and Protein Sequences of the Campanian Hadrosaur B. canadensis, *Science* **324**, 626–631 (2009), 10.1126/science.1165069.
- 145. J. D. San Antonio, M. H. Schweitzer, S. T. Jensen, R. Kalluri, M. Buckley, and J. P. R. O. Orgel, Dinosaur Peptides Suggest Mechanisms of Protein Survival, *PLoS ONE* **6**, e20381 (2011).
- P. Thaddeus, The Prebiotic Molecules Observed in the Interstellar Gas, *Philos. Trans. Biol. Sci.* 361, 1681–1687 (2006).
- 147. S. Leach, Aspects of Molecules, Grains and Clusters in Space, with Special Reference to Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons, *Zeitschrift Für Physikalische Chemie* **195**, 15–42 (1996).
- 148. T. Oka, Spectroscopy and astronomy: H₃⁺ from the laboratory to the Galactic center, *Faraday Discuss.* **150**, 9–22 (2011).
- 149. S. Albert, K. Keppler Albert, P. Lerch, and M. Quack, Synchrotron-based highest resolution Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy of naphthalene (C₁₀H₈) and indole (C₈H₇N) and application to astrophysical problems, *Faraday Discuss*. **150**, 71–99 (2011).
- P. de Marcellus, C. Meinert, M. Nuevo, J.-J. Filippi, G. Danger, D. Deboffle, L. Nahon, L. L. S. d'Hendecourt, U. Meierhenrich, J., Non-racemic Amino Acid Production by Ultraviolet Irradiation of Achiral Interstellar Ice Analogs with Circularly Polarized Light, *Astrophys. J. Lett.* 727, L27, 1–6.
- 151. C. Moni Bidin, G. Carraro, R. A. Méndez, and R. Smith, Kinematical and Chemical Vertical Structure of the Galactic Thick Disk. II. A Lack of Dark Matter in the Solar Neighborhood, *Astrophys. J.* **751**, 30 (2012).
- 152. J. Bovy, and S. Tremaine, On the Local Dark Matter Density, Astrophys. J. 756, 89 (2012).
- 153. M. Quack, Time and time reversal symmetry in quantum chemical kinetics, in *Fundamental World of Quantum Chemistry*. A Tribute to the Memory of Per-Olov Löwdin, Vol. 3, edited by E. J. Brändas and E. S. Kryachko (Kluwer Adacemic Publishers, Dordrecht, 2004), pp. 423–474.

- 154. R. S. Berry, S. A. Rice, and J. Ross, Physical Chemistry, (Wiley, New York, 1980).
- 155. E. R. Cohen, T. Cvitas, J. G. Frey, B. Holmström, K. Kuchitsu, R. Marquardt, I. Mills, F. Pavese, M. Quack, J. Stohner, H. L. Strauss, M. Takami, and A. J. Thor, *Quantities, Units and Symbols in Physical Chemistry, 3rd edition, third corrected printing* (IUPAC and Royal Society of Chemistry, RSC Publishing, Cambridge, 2011).
- 156. P. Pfeiffer, in *Energy storage and redistribution in molecules (Proceedings of two workshops on molecular structure, rigidity, and energy surface, and on energy scrambling in a molecule; how stationary are internal states? Bielefeld University 1980)*, edited by J. Hinze (Plenum Press, New York, 1983), pp. 315–326.
- 157. A. Amann, Chirality a Superselection Rule Generated by the Molecular Environment, *J. Math. Chem.* **6**, 1–15 (1991).
- 158. R. Marquardt and M. Quack, Radiative excitation of the harmonic oscillator with applications to stereomutation in chiral molecules, *Z. Phys. D* **36**, 229–237 (1996).
- 159. M. Quack, The concept of law and models in chemistry, European review 22, S50–S86 (2014).
- M. Quack, On the emergence of Simple Structures in Complex Phenomena: Concepts and some Numerical Examples, Adv. Chem. Phys. 157, 97–117 (2014).

DISCUSSION

Session: IIIA Speaker: Martin Quack

Mike Lipkin asked: If early Earth was anisotropic, rotation of the planet in the Solar Wind would provide a strong impetus for chirality. Are the energy levels for this mechanism appropriate for biochiral selection?

Reply of Martin Quack to Mike Lipkin: Yes, there are many possible external chiral influences that could, in principle, generate a chiral preference, and some of those similar to the ones you mention were already surmised by Louis Pasteur for possible causes of biomolecular homochirality (and many others thereafter). These are all of the "*de facto*" kind discussed by me. Parity violation "*de lege*" introduces a new element, but, of course, we do not at present know, what the actual cause for the selection of biomolecular homochirality was.

Session: IIIA Speaker: Sydney Leach

Mike Lipkin asked: Do the extreme conditions of early Earth, that is, radioactivity, heat, etc. mean that exobiologial search should typically start with likewise extreme planets (or once extreme)?

Session: IIIA Speaker: Martin Quack

Sydney Leach commented: It is possible that in very early times there existed both D-amino acid and L-amino acid biota and that the D-form was eliminated through some form of Darwinian conflict.

Reply of Martin Quack to the comment of Sydney Leach: Sydney Leach is perfectly correct that such a Darwinian selection of biomolecular homochirality could have happened, but we do not know, whether it happened this way or whether it started with a prebiotic selection.

Session: IIIA Speaker: Sydney Leach/Martin Quack

Don Heller said: In trying to assess the likelihood of extraterrestrial life, we suffer from the basic problem of being unable to draw strong statistical inference from an N = 1 database.

That said, there are some considerations. Life on this planet (although perhaps not intelligent life) seems easy to come by. There is not only enormous biological diversity, but the observation that on a geological timescale, nearly as soon as the planet's temperature became low enough to support stable molecules (with $\approx 100 \text{ kcal mol}^{-1}$ bond strengths) life began. This suggests that, once conditions are right to support it, life happens "spontaneously"—apparently, mechanism and free energy somehow favor the formation of life. One necessary condition appears to be constrained molecular mobility. Given that sufficient chemical constituents are proven to exist—perhaps this is all that is needed.

I point out that the lack of converse chirality (i.e., D-amino acids and L-sugars) in our biosystem is not the only surprise. Even within the L-amino acid family, DNA does not encode for every possibility. Apparently those omitted amino acids are just not necessary, but why should they be totally excluded in all DNA-based life forms? That is, since life seems to drive toward experimenting with (and generally increasing) diversity—why is this particular (molecular) diversity excluded? As to the issue of specific chirality, is this in any way related to the handedness of the double helix?

Martin Quack reply to Don Heller: Don Heller makes the point that the evolution of life appears likely under appropriate conditions. As I said in my contribution, this seems to be the majority view today, but there are prominent opponents to this (Jacques Monod and others). If one is honest about our current state of knowledge: We simply to not know for sure, which opinion on this matter is correct. And there are many open questions, as Don Heller correctly points out.